

# Policies and Procedures Manual 2023-24

## **Table of Contents**

Governing documents	2
Articles of Incorporation	2
ARTICLE 1: Name	2
ARTICLE 2: Purposes and Powers	2
ARTICLE 3: Period of Existence	4
ARTICLE 4: Period Office and Resident Agent	4
ARTICLE 5: Membership	4
ARTICLE 6: Directors	5
ARTICLE 7: Incorporators	6
ARTICLE 8: Statement with Respect to Property	6
ARTICLE 9: Executive Committee	6
ARTICLE 10: Provision for Regulation and Conduct of the Affairs of Corporation	6
Code of Bylaws	9
ARTICLE 1: Name and Period of Existence	9
ARTICLE 2: Purposes	9
ARTICLE 3: Powers	9
ARTICLE 4: General Office, Resident Agent and Executive Director	9
ARTICLE 5: Members	10
ARTICLE 6: Directors	12
ARTICLE 7: Executive Committee	14
ARTICLE 8: Officers	
ARTICLE 9	16
ARTICLE 10: IRE Endowment Funds	16
Policies	18
Code of Conduct Policy - IRE Principles	18
The complaint process	18
Complaints made at in-person events:	19
Complaints made outside of in-person events:	19
The appeal process	19
The notification process	19

Anonymity	20
Conflict of Interest Policy	20
Definitions	20
Policy and Practices	21
Elections	22
Election timing, balloting and voting requirements	22
Staff role in elections	22
Declaration of candidacy, submission of materials	22
Candidate nominations	22
Candidate speeches	23
Rules for campaigning	23
Events	23
Meetups	23
Executive director evaluations	23
Financial procedures	24
Whistleblower Policy	25
General	25
Reporting Responsibility	25
No Retaliation	25
Reporting Violations	25
Acting in Good Faith	25
Confidentiality	26
Handling of Reported Violations	26
Procedures	27
Board of Directors meetings	27
Scheduling Board meetings	27
Rules of Order	28
RE Committees	31
Current IRE Committees	31
Current IRE Task Forces	32
Selection of Committee Chairs and Members	33
Committee Meetings	34
Executive Committee	36

# **Governing documents**

## Articles of Incorporation

Of Investigative Reporters and Editors, Inc.

The undersigned incorporators, desiring to form a corporation (hereinafter referred to as the "Corporation") pursuant to the provisions of the Indiana Not-For-Profit Corporation Act of 1971 (hereinafter referred to as the "Act"). Execute the following Articles of Incorporation:

## **ARTICLE 1: Name**

Section 1.01. Name. The name of this Corporation shall be: INVESTIGATIVE REPORTERS AND EDITORS, INC.

## **ARTICLE 2: Purposes and Powers**

Section 2.01 Primary Purposes. The purposes for which this Corporation is formed are exclusively to perform such functions and to engage in such activities as shall permit the Corporation to qualify as an organization exempt from Federal taxation under the provisions of Section 509 (a) (2) of the Code and the Regulations issued pursuant thereto, as amended from time to time. Specifically, the Corporation shall be organized and at all times operated exclusively to provide educational services to reporters, editors, and other persons interested in investigative journalism and to maintain high professional ethical standards in this field.

Section 2.02. Specific Power s. Subject to any specific written limitations or restrictions imposed by the Act, by the Code, by other law, or by these Articles of Incorporation, and solely in furtherance of but not in addition to the purposes set forth in Section 2.01 of the Article, the Corporation shall have the following specific powers:

Clause(a). Statutory Powers. Subject to any specific written limitations or restrictions Imposed by the Act, by the other law, or by these Articles of Incorporation and solely in furtherance of, but not in addition to the purposes set forth in Section 2.01 of these Articles, the Corporation shall have all the powers specified in the Act including the powers set forth in Section 23-7.1-4 of the Act.

Clause (b). To Make Gifts. To make gifts, donations, contributions, loans and grants of all or any part of the income, assets and property of the Corporation.

Clause (c). To Solicit Contributions. To solicit in any manner and receive and accept from any source any money, property or services, including any present or future, vested or contingent, legal or equitable, or conditional or absolute interest therein, which is given, granted, devised, bequeathed or otherwise bestowed upon the Corporation and may be used to accomplish the purposes set forth in Section 2.01 of

this Article.

Clause (d). To Make Contracts. To enter into, perform, cancel and rescind all kinds of contractual obligations.

Clause (e). To Act With Others. To perform any act which the Corporation acting alone has the power and capacity to perform by acting as a partner or otherwise in association with any individual, group of individuals, form, partnership, association, corporation, department of government, or other entity, whether legally constituted or informally organized.

Clause (f). To Accept Fees for Ser vices. To accept fees for services rendered to members or to the general public insofar as such is consistent with the purposes set forth in Section 2.01 of this Article.

Clause (g). Establishment and Maintenance of Corporation. To expend rules for the establishment and maintenance of the Corporation: the acquisition, equipment, maintenance and conduct of a principal office: the engagement of staff, both professional and otherwise, to conduct the business and affairs of the Corporation: the publication of materials respecting the affairs of the Corporation: the conducting of programs designed to effect the purposes of the Corporation: and the conduct of its business and affairs generally.

Section 2.03. Limitations Upon Powers.

Clause (a). Earnings. No member of the Corporation shall have or receive any earnings from the Corporation, except a member who is an officer, director, or employee of the Corporation, in which event he may receive fair and reasonable compensation for his services as an officer, director, or employee: and a member may also receive payments of principal and interest at a rate not exceeding six percent (6%) per annum on funds loaned or advanced by him to the Corporation.

Clause (b). Loans to Directors. The Corporation shall make no advancements for services to be performed in the future, nor any loan of money or property to any director or officer of the Corporation.

Clause (c). Dissolution. In the event of dissolution of the Corporation, all assets remaining after payment of all debts of the Corporation shall be transferred by the Board of Directors to any not-for-profit corporation, trust, foundation or other organization whose purposes are substantially the same a those of the Corporation and which, at the time of transfer, is exempt from Federal taxation under Section 501 (c) (3) of the Code or the corresponding provisions of any future United States Internal Revenue Law. Any such assets not so transferred by the Board of Directors shall be disposed of by the Circuit court of the County in which the principal office of the Corporation is located, exclusively for such tax-exempt purposes or to such tax-exempt organization as the Court shall determine. No member, director or officer of the Corporation, or any private individual, shall be entitled to share in the distribution of

any of the assets of the Corporation on dissolution of the Corporation.

Clause (d). Prohibited Activities.

- (i) No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of any member, director or officer of the Corporation, or to any private individual.
- (ii) No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall consist of the carrying on of propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the Corporation shall not participate in or intervene in (including the publication or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office.
- (iii) Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles, the Corporation shall not conduct or carry on any activities not permitted to be conducted or carried on by an organization exempt from Federal taxation under Section 501 (c) (3) of the Code and the Regulations issued pursuant thereto, as amended, or by an organization contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of the Code and the regulations issued pursuant thereto, as amended.

Clause (e) No Construction of Powers as Purposes. The Powers enumerated in Section 2.02 of this Article shall not be construed as Purposes, but the Corporation shall have and exercise such Powers solely in furtherance of, but not in addition to the limited purposes set forth in Section 2.01 of this Article.

## ARTICLE 3: Period of Existence

Section 3.01. Term. The period during which the Corporation shall continue is perpetual.

## ARTICLE 4: Period Office and Resident Agent

Section 4.01 Principal Office. The Post office address of the principal office of the Corporation is:

307 North Pennsylvania St Indianapolis, Indiana 46204

Section 4.02 Resident Agents. The name and address of the Resident Agent in charge of the principal office of the Corporation is:

Myrta Pulliam 307 North Pennsylvania Street Indianapolis, Indiana 46204

## ARTICLE 5: Membership

Section 5.01 Classes of Membership. The Corporation shall have five classes of membership. The classes of membership shall be entitled "Professional", "Academic", "Retired", "Associate" and "Student" respectively. The Professional class shall be limited to persons substantially engaged in news gathering, presentation or production. The Academic class shall be limited to persons engaged full-time in research or teaching in the field of journalism. The Retired class shall be limited to persons who formerly belonged to the Professional and or

Academic class but have retired from their occupation. "Associate" membership will be available to former Professional or Academic members who are not retired, individuals engaged part-time in reporting or editing, plus individuals recognized by the Board of Directors for their contributions to this corporation to the field of investigative reporting and editing. The Corporation shall recognize as "Student" members those college students pursuing a degree, who subscribe to the Corporation, in order to be entitled to receive the benefits of its educational activities. Associate members shall not be eligible for the voting rights which are reserved to the other classes of members. (Amendments adopted 6/7/08, 3/6/15)

Section 5.02 (Removed by amendment 3/6/15)

### **ARTICLE 6: Directors**

Section 6.01 Number of Directors. The initial Board of Directors of the Corporation shall consist of nine (9) members who shall serve for two years from the date of the filing of these articles. The number of Directors of the Corporation shall be specified from time to time in the Code of Bylaws of the Corporation; provided, however, that the minimum number shall be three (3) and the maximum number shall be fifteen (15) and, if the Code of Bylaws fail to specify the number, then the number shall be nine (9). One-half of the directors shall be elected every year and shall serve for two years. The mechanism for electing the first Board of Directors shall be established in the Code of Bylaws.

Section 6.02 Names and Post Office Addresses. The names and post office addresses of the initial members of the Board of Directors are as follows:

Name	Post Office Address
1.Mr. Harley Bierce	307 North Pennsylvania Street, Indianapolis, Indiana
46204	
2.Ms. Myrta Pulliam	307 North Pennsylvania Street, Indianapolis, Indiana
46204	
3.Mr. Paul N. Williams	242 18th Street, Columbus, Ohio 43210
4.Mr. Robert L. Pierce	12th Blvd. and Delmar, St. Louis, Missouri 63101
5.Mr. Ronald Koziol	435 North Michigan Avenue, Chicago, Illinois 60611
6.Mr. Les Whitten	1401 16th Street N.W. Washington D.C. 20036
7.Mr. Steve Castner	333 West State Street Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201
8.Mr. David Burnham	1920 L Street N.W. Washington D.C. 20236
9.Mr. Len Downie	1150 15th Street N.W. Washington D.C. 20271

Section 6.03 Members as Directors. All members, except Student and Associate members, are eligible to be elected directors. (The Articles were amended in June 2009 to remove a restriction that allowed only one academic to serve on the board at any time. The deleted clause stated: At the time of election, no more than one Academic member may sit on the Board as a result of such an election.)

## **ARTICLE 7: Incorporators**

Section 7.01 Names and Addresses of Incorporators. The names and post office addresses of the incorporators are as follows:

Name	Post Office Address
1.Mr. Harley Bierce 46204	307 North Pennsylvania Street, Indianapolis, Indiana
2.Ms. Myrta Pulliam 46204	307 North Pennsylvania Street, Indianapolis, Indiana

## ARTICLE 8: Statement with Respect to Property

Section 8.01 Property of Corporation. The Corporation, upon its incorporation, has no property of value other than the sum of \$300.00.

## **ARTICLE 9: Executive Committee**

Section 9.01 Executive Committee. The Board of Directors shall elect an Executive Committee of such number and with such tenure and powers as the Bylaws shall determine. Such Executive Committee shall have and may exercise, during intervals between meetings of the Board of Directors, all the powers vested in the Board of Directors (except such powers as, under the Act, Articles, Bylaws, or other law, or proper resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors, are reserved for exercise by the latter alone) upon the affirmative vote of the majority in number of the members of the Executive Committee, present or by proxy. The Executive Committee may, within the limitations just stated, make and adopt a Code of Rules and Regulations for the conduct of its business. (Amendment adopted 3/6/15)

# ARTICLE 10: Provision for Regulation and Conduct of the Affairs of Corporation

Section 10.01 Management of Corporation. The affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by the Board of Directors, which shall represent the members of the Corporation, subject to the provisions of Section 6.03 hereof.

Section 10.02 Code of Bylaws. The Board of Directors of the Corporation shall have the power, without the assent of the members, to make, alter, amend, or repeal the Code of Bylaws of the Corporation.

Section 10.03 Officers. The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a President, one or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and such other officers as may be prescribed by the resolution of the Board of Directors. They shall be elected in the manner specified in the Code of Bylaws. The offices of President and Secretary shall not be occupied by the same person.

Section 10.04 Term of Office of Directors and Officers. Each officer and director shall hold his office for the term specified in the Code of Bylaws, but no term shall end until a successor is elected and qualified for the office to be vacated.

Section 10.05 Removal of Member of the Boar d of Directors. Any member of the Board of Directors may be removed, with or without cause, at a meeting of the Board of Directors called expressly for that purpose, by a vote of two thirds (2/3) of all the members of the Board of Directors then serving.

Section 10.06 Meetings of Members. All meetings of the members shall be held at such place within or without the State of Indiana as may be designated by the Board of Directors pursuant to the Code of Bylaws.

Section. 10.07 Fiscal Year . The fiscal year of the Corporation shall begin on July 1, and end on June 30.

Section 10.08 Action by Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if prior to such action a written consent to such action is signed by all members of the board or of such committee, as the case may be, and such written consent is filed with the minutes of proceeds of the board or committee.

Section 10.09 Limitation on Power s of Member s and Boar d of Directors. Notwithstanding any contrary provision in these Articles, neither the members nor the Board of Directors shall have the power or authority to take or authorize any action which shall deprive the Corporation of its status as an exempt organization under the provisions of Section 501 ( c ) (3) of the Code, as amended.

Section 10.10 Amendment of Articles of Incorporation. The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provisions contained in the Articles of Incorporation in any amendment hereto, in any manner now or hereafter prescribed or permitted by the Act or any amendment thereto; upon two-thirds vote of the Members after majority adoption by the Board of Directors of a resolution submitting such amendment of the articles to the membership at an annual or special meeting by written notice given to Members; provided, nevertheless, that such power of amendment shall not authorize any amendment which would permit any part of net earnings or property of the Corporation to inure to the benefit of any private individual or which would have the effect of disqualifying this Corporation as an exempt organization under the provisions of Section 501 ( c ) (3) of the Code, as amended, or such equivalent provision may hereafter exist from time to time.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, being the incorporators designated in Article 7, execute these Articles of Incorporation and certify to the truth of the facts therein stated this 25 day of April, 1975.

/s/			

		Harley Bierce
		/s/
		Myrta Pulliam
/s/		
	_ James Neff, President	_
/s/		
	_ Edward DeLaney, Secretar	<del>y</del>

Effective: June 7, 2008

# **Code of Bylaws**

OF INVESTIGATIVE REPORTERS AND EDITORS, INC.

## ARTICLE 1: Name and Period of Existence

The name of the Corporation is INVESTIGATIVE REPORTERS AND EDITORS, INC. and the period during which the Corporation shall continue in existence is perpetual.

## **ARTICLE 2: Purposes**

The purposes set forth in Article 2.01 of the Articles shall be implemented by the Members. Directors, officers' agents and employees of the Corporation, subject, however to the control of the Board of Directors.

## **ARTICLE 3: Powers**

The limited Powers set forth in Article 2.02 of the Articles shall be exercised by the Members, Directors, officers, agents and employees of the Corporation, subject, however, to the control of the Board of Directors.

## ARTICLE 4: General Office, Resident Agent and Executive Director

## Section 4.01. Appointment and Powers of Executive Director.

At such time as it shall deem it necessary and appropriate, the Board of Directors may, by majority vote, elect an Executive Director of the Corporation to operate its general office; plan and supervise its campaign for gifts; conduct its general correspondence; and make arrangements for the meetings of the Members, Directors, and the Executive Committee of the Corporation. The Executive Director shall have only such powers as are granted to him or her by the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall at all times be subject to the instructions of the Directors, and at times between meetings of the Directors, the Executive Committee.

## Section 4.02 Corporate Acts.

All checks, drafts, notes, bonds, bills of exchange, and orders for the payment of money of the Corporation; all deeds, mortgages, and other written contracts and agreements to which the Corporation shall be a party; and all assignments or endorsements of stock certificates, registered bonds, or other securities owned by the Corporation, shall, unless otherwise directed by the Board of Directors, or unless otherwise required by the Board of Directors, or unless otherwise required by law, be signed by any two of the following officers: President, Vice-President, Secretary or Treasurer. The Board of Directors may, however, authorize any one of such officers to sign any of such instruments, for and in behalf of the Corporation, without necessity of countersignature: and may designate officers or employees of the Corporation other than those named above, who may, in the name of the Corporation, sign such instruments. Any shares of stock issued by any other corporation and owned or

controlled by the Corporation may be voted at any shareholders' meeting of such other corporation by the President of the Corporation, if he be present; or, in his absence, by any Vice-President of the Corporation who may be present; and, in the event both the President and Vice- President shall be absent, then by such person as the President or Vice-President, and the Secretary, shall, by duly executed proxy, designate to represent the Corporation at such shareholders' meeting.

## **ARTICLE 5: Members**

Section 5.01. Application for Membership.

Any interested person may apply to the Board of Directors for membership in any appropriate membership class. Membership application for either the professional or academic class or retired class of membership shall be approved if the applicant meets the occupational requirements set forth in Section 5.01 of the Articles. Associate membership shall be granted to all applicants who were former members of the professional or academic class. Other persons may apply to the Board of Directors for associate membership only upon the recommendation of at least one member of the Board. The board of directors shall have the authority to make all determinations as to the qualifications in any membership class. The eligibility of a member as to compliance with the requirements of Section 5.01 of the Articles of Incorporation may be challenged, with reasons stated in writing and submitted to the board, by any two members of the corporation, and, after an opportunity for written response by such person to that challenge, the board shall decide the question of eligibility of that person. (Amendment adopted 2/13/81.)

Section 5.02. Compliance with Bylaws.

Both Charter Members and Elected Members shall execute and deliver to the Corporation an Instrument of Acceptance in the following form:

Instrument of Acceptance Of Membership In Investigative Reporters and Editors, Inc.
Investigative Reporters and Editors, Inc.
138 Neff Annex
Columbia, Missouri 65211

In consideration of admission to Membership in your Corporation and the benefits to be derived from such Membership, the undersigned hereby agrees to abide by the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and Code of Bylaws, of your Corporation, both as amended from time to time.

Executed at	, this	day of	20
		(Nar	me of Member)
Ву	A	Attest:	
Presiden	t		Secretary

(Corporate Seal)

## Section 5.03. Certificate of Membership.

Upon execution by a Member of the "Instrument of Acceptance of Membership in Investigative Reporters and Editors. Inc,." such Member shall be entitled to issuance of a Certificate of Membership in the following form:

	ertificate of Membership In estigative Reporters and Editors,	Inc.
THIS IS TO CERTIFY That _	of (Name of Member)	(City and State)
is a member of the Investigative Editors, Inc. Members Executed this day of	hip Category	
President	Attest:	Secretary
(Corporate Seal)		

Section 5.04. Annual Meeting.

The first annual meeting of the Members of the Corporation shall be held within one year of the filing of the Articles and annually thereafter prior to the termination of the then current Fiscal Year, on a day or days which shall meet with the approval of a majority of the Board of Directors. At least thirty (30) days' notice in writing of the day or days set for such meeting shall be given to each Member. If the annual meeting is not held as provided, such failure shall not work any forfeiture of the charter, or affect the status of the property or the validity of any power, authority or action of the Corporation, its Members, Directors, and officers; but such meeting, when duly called, convened, and conducted, and the action taken thereat, shall be as valid as if such annual meeting had been held at the time hereinabove set forth.

#### Section 5.05. Special Meetings.

Special meetings of the Members may be called as determined by a majority in number of the members of the Executive Committee, or by any twenty-five (25) percent of the Members, at any place within the United States upon delivery of ten (10) days notice, specifying the time, place, and general purpose of the meeting given to each Member either personally, by written instrument or electronic mail. At any special meeting at which all Members are present, notice of the time, place, and purpose thereof shall be deemed waived; and similar notice may likewise be waived by absent Members either by written instrument or by telegram.

## Section 5.06 Quorum.

A number of members equal to a majority of the members of the Corporation registered at the most recent convening of an annual national conference shall be necessary to constitute a quorum at a membership meeting and all motions for action shall be carried by a majority vote of the members present except that a two-thirds in number of the members present shall be necessary for the amendment of the articles. (Amendment adopted 2-13-81.)

## Section 5.07. Voting Rights.

The Members shall have voting rights at meetings of the Members in accordance with the Articles.

## **ARTICLE 6: Directors**

#### Section 6.01. Number, Qualification, and Term.

Except as stated in Section 6.02 hereof, the Corporation shall be governed by a Board of directors consisting of thirteen (13) Members qualified as per Article 6 of the Articles. Seven of such Directors shall be selected in even numbered years and six in odd numbered years.

## Section 6.02. Selection of Initial Board of Directors.

The Directors named in Section 6.02 of the Articles shall each serve for a period of two years commencing on the date of the filing of the Articles. In addition, four

(4) more directors shall be elected at the first annual meeting to commence service immediately. Thus after the first annual meeting and before the second anniversary of the filing of the Articles there shall be a total of thirteen (13) directors. At the second annual meeting, which is to be held before the second anniversary of the filing of the Articles, five (5) directors shall be chosen to commence service on the second anniversary of the filing of the Articles. These directors may be chosen wholly or in part from among the original directors.

## Section 6.03. Annual Meeting.

The annual meeting of the Board of Directors for the election of officers, and for the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting, shall be held either conjointly with, or immediately after adjournment of, the annual meeting of the Members of the Corporation, when the latter is held as specified in Section 5.04 of the Bylaws. No notice shall be necessary for the holding of the annual meeting of the Board of Directors. If the annual meeting is not held as above provided, the election of officers may be held at any subsequent meeting of the Board as adjourned or specially called. (Amendment adopted 2/13/81.)

#### Section 6.04. Special meetings.

In the event of an emergency declared by the President or a majority of the Executive Committee, the Board of Directors may meet and act, provided that a quorum of two-thirds of

the Directors are participants and all Directors have been notified. The Membership should be notified as soon as is practical before the meeting. (Amendment adopted 3/5/22.)

Section 6.05. Place of Meetings.

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held virtually, by phone or in person as may be specified in the respective notices, or waivers of notice. (Amendment adopted 3/5/22.)

Section 6.06. Notice of Meetings.

Scheduling a non-emergency meeting requires not less than ten (10) days' notice to the Membership, specifying the time, place, and general purpose of each meeting. It shall be given to each Director personally. (Amendment adopted 3/5/22.)

Notices of meetings of the Board of Directors shall be substantially in the following form:

# TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF INVESTIGATIVE REPORTERS AND EDITORS, INC.:

	ease take notice that the		•
Board of L	Directors of Investigative	•	•
at	, on, 19,o'clock p.m. for the following		
purposes:			
1.	(Here Insert)		
2.			
Dated	, 20		
			ecretary
		Investigative R	eporters and

Section 6.07 Waiver of Notice.

(Amendment deleting this section adopted 3/5/22.)

Section 6.08 Quorum.

A majority of the whole Board of Directors shall be necessary to constitute a quorum thereof; and, unless otherwise affirmatively prescribed by the Act, Articles, Bylaws, or other law, a majority of any quorum shall be sufficient to authorize or approve any action by the Board.

Editors, Inc.

#### Section 6.09 Attendance.

No director can run for re-election if he or she has not attended two-thirds (2/3) of the in-person and pre-scheduled telephone meetings of the board during his or her tenure. Pre-scheduled telephone meetings are defined as those meetings scheduled with at least 60 days advance notice. Exceptions hereto can be made by the executive committee alone. (Amendment adopted 6/14/12.)

#### Section 6.10. Vacancies.

Vacancies on the Board of Directors shall occur upon the death, resignation, incapacitation or removal for stated cause by two-thirds vote of the board of any member of the Board of Directors, and the board may fill such vacancies with the next qualified highest vote recipients among nominees at the last previous election, to serve until the next meeting of the membership, which shall then elect a person to fill the balance of that unexpired term.

## **ARTICLE 7: Executive Committee**

## Section 7.01. Number, Qualification, and Term.

Beginning with the officers elected at the June 2006 meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, the executive committee of the Board of directors shall consist of five Directors, including the president, vice-president, treasurer and secretary. The remaining member of the Executive Committee shall be a director elected by a majority vote of the Board. The president shall be chairman of the Executive Committee. The members of the Executive Committee shall hold office until the next annual meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The immediate past president – to the extent possible – shall serve in an advisory role to the board. (Amendment adopted 2/13/81; a second amendment adopted 9/9/04.)

#### Section 7.02. Vacancies.

Vacancies on the Executive Committee shall occur upon the death or other incapacity of any one of the five (5) Members; and shall be filled at the direction of the Board of Directors.

#### Section 7.03. Meetings.

Meetings of the Executive Committee shall be called and held in a manner prescribed by the Board of Directors, including with notice to all the Directors. (Amendment adding notice requirement adopted 6/1/22)

#### Section 7.04. Quorum.

A majority of the members of the Executive Committee shall be necessary to constitute a quorum thereof; but the Executive Committee, which is not supported by the affirmative votes of three

(3) members, shall take no action.

#### Section 7.05. Powers.

The Executive Committee shall have and may exercise during the intervals between

meetings of the Board of Directors all the powers vested in the Board of Directors, except those reserved by the Act, Articles, these Bylaws, or other law to the Members or Board of Directors of the Corporation, or any other powers the Board of Directors chooses to retain.

#### **ARTICLE 8: Officers**

#### Section 8.01. Officers.

The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer and such other officers as may be deemed necessary by the Board of Directors. All officers shall be members. The President, Vice-President, Treasurer and Secretary shall be Directors of the Corporation. (Amendment adopted 9/9/04.)

#### Section 8.02 Vacancies.

Whenever any vacancies shall occur in any office by death, resignation increase in the number of offices of the Corporation, or otherwise, the same shall be filled by the Board of Directors, and the officer so elected shall hold office until his successor is chosen and qualified.

#### Section 8.03 The President.

The President shall preside at all meetings of the Members, and the Board of Directors, discharge all the duties which devolve upon a presiding officer, and perform such other duties as these bylaws provide or the Board of Directors may prescribe. The President, acting with the Secretary and Treasurer, shall have full authority, for and in behalf of the Corporation, to execute powers of attorney appointing other corporations, foundations, partnerships, or individuals the agent of the Corporation.

#### Section 8.04 The Vice-President.

The Vice-President shall perform all duties incumbent upon the President during the absence or disability of the President and shall perform such other duties as these Bylaws may require or the Board of Directors may prescribe.

## Section 8.05. The Secretary.

The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Members, the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee, and shall keep, or cause to be kept, in books provided for the purpose, true and complete minutes of the meetings or other proceedings and ensure that all minutes of all of those types of gatherings, including all executive sessions, are distributed to the full Board of Directors shortly thereafter. The Secretary may delegate their duty to keep such minutes to an Assistant Secretary or the Executive Director of the Corporation if there be such. The Secretary (acting through the Executive Director if there be such) shall attend to the giving and serving of all notices of the Corporation. (Amendment adopted 3/5/22.)

The Secretary shall perform such other duties as these Bylaws may require or the Board of Directors may prescribe, including the execution of the certificates set forth in Article 5.

#### Section 8.06. The Treasurer.

The Treasurer shall keep correct and complete records of account, showing accurately at all times the financial condition of the Corporation. The treasurer shall be the legal custodian of all moneys, notes, securities and other valuables which may from time to time come into possession of the Corporation. The treasurer shall immediately deposit all funds of the Corporation coming into their hands in some reliable bank or other depository to be designated by the Board of Directors, and shall keep such bank account in the name of the Corporation. The Treasurer may delegate their duty to keep such records of account and to perform such other duties to any employee of the Corporation designated by the Board of Directors by proper resolution. The Treasurer shall furnish at meetings of the Board of Directors, or whenever requested, a statement of the financial condition of the Corporation. (Language updated 8/14/22)

### Section 8.07 Delegation of Authority.

In case of the absence of any officer of the Corporation, or for any other reason the Board may deem sufficient, the Board may delegate the powers or duties of such officer to the Executive Director or employee of the Corporation, for the time being, provided a majority in number of the entire Board of directors concurs therein.

## **ARTICLE 9**

The power to make, alter, amend, supplement or repeal the bylaws of the corporation is vested in the Board of Directors, at a meeting properly called, convened and conducted for such purpose at which two-thirds in number of the directors votes in favor of such action. Proper notice of such a meeting shall include communications to members providing at least 30 days to submit comments in response to proposed changes. (Amendment adopted 9/9/04.)

## ARTICLE 10: IRE Endowment Funds

(Approved by the Board of Directors August 14, 2022)

IRE has endowment funds that financially support the corporation's operations.

The "IRE Endowment Funds" are monitored by a finance committee that is chaired by the Treasurer and includes six other members of IRE, including one Director. That Director and two of the other members are nominated by the President; the others are nominated by the Treasurer. All are nominated after the annual officer elections and must be approved by the IRE Board. They serve for two-year terms.

The Finance Committee works on fundraising, oversees ongoing revenues and expenses, monitors the Endowment Funds and advises the Board on investment practices. The committee meets with a financial adviser at least once every year, and it prepares a report that is presented at the annual membership meeting and posted online.

The endowment principal cannot be spent except for in fiscal emergencies, and only then after at least two-thirds of the IRE board members have approved of such an expenditure.

Sources of donations to the funds are accepted according to board policy. (Initial wording on Endowment Funds adopted 6/15/06; amendments adopted and Article 10 created 8/14/22.)

# **Policies**

# Code of Conduct Policy - IRE Principles

(effective Feb. 23, 2023)

Investigative Reporters & Editors is committed to providing a friendly, safe and welcoming environment for all, regardless of race, gender identity or expression, ethnicity, sexual orientation, physical ability, age, appearance or religion.

IRE supports vigorous debate and welcomes disagreement, while maintaining a civil and respectful community. Discriminatory or harassing behavior is not permitted.

IRE may take any action it deems appropriate to deal with those who violate our principles, including exclusion from our events, forums, listservs and the organization itself.

The IRE Principles apply to all events and meetings that IRE holds, including entirely virtual ones. Members agree to follow these principles throughout all communications related to the conference.

This code of conduct covers all participants in IRE events and is in effect the entire time from the beginning until the end of our events and meetings.

If you feel threatened or in immediate jeopardy during an IRE event, you should call 911 or contact building security.

The IRE Executive Director has discretion for handling all Code of Conduct complaints. If you see or experience any other violation of this Code, please file a complaint through the online form below. Your submission will automatically be emailed to the IRE President and the Executive Director.

Complainants should expect to hear from the Executive Director, who will handle the complaint.

All IRE members should be prompted to sign IRE's Code of Conduct upon joining or renewing membership.

# The complaint process

If a member experiences an emergency at an IRE event, they should call 911 or contact on-site security at a number that will be provided to attendees.

The Executive Director has discretion to resolve all Code of Conduct complaints, up to and including revocation of membership. If the complaint involves conduct by the Executive Director, the President or their designee will handle it in the same process described below.

The complainant may withdraw their complaint at any point prior to a final determination.

## Complaints made at in-person events:

If a staff member or a Board member receives a complaint at an in-person event, they should contact the Executive Director or, if the Executive Director is unavailable, another senior member of the staff. Complaints may also be received through the online form.

Upon hearing of a complaint, the Executive Director or, in the absence of the Executive Director, a senior member of the staff, will speak to the complainant in a quiet, discreet location as soon as possible. If appropriate, they will encourage the complainant to contact 911 or on-site security. If the Executive Director determines that they need to speak to the accused, they will also lead that conversation as soon as possible in a quiet, discreet location. The Executive Director will then decide what steps to take within 24 hours.

## Complaints made outside of in-person events:

Upon hearing of a complaint, the Executive Director will look into the matter, and, if necessary, speak to the complainant and accused. They will then decide what steps to take within a week.

# The appeal process

Once the Executive Director has made a decision, they will inform the complainant and the accused, telling both that if either finds the decision unacceptable, the complainant or accused can appeal to the Executive Committee, where it will be heard in executive session. Ultimately, a majority vote will decide what action, if any, to take. If the complainant or accused finds the Executive Committee's decision unacceptable, they can appeal to the full Board, which would hear the matter in executive session. The full Board would have the final say by majority vote.

# The notification process

Once the complaint is resolved, regardless of whether an appeal has been filed, the Executive Director will brief the full Board about the complaint in executive session at its next Board meeting. This briefing will include the alleged conduct and the Executive Director's determination. The briefing will never include the name of the complainant. If the Executive Director decided to dismiss the complaint as meritless, then the briefing will also not include the name of the accused. Otherwise, the Executive Director's confidential briefing shall include the

name of the accused.

After the briefing, the Executive Director will compile the original written complaint, the interview notes, the determination, any resulting actions, and any other papers to be placed in a confidential file maintained by the Executive Director.

The Executive Director will also publish a summary of the number of complaints, their nature and their resolutions annually. No names will be included.

## Anonymity

IRE is unable to investigate anonymous tips. While we require names, they will only be disclosed as necessary to investigate and resolve the complaint.

In most cases, the accused will be informed of the identity of the complainant. When the person leading the investigation speaks to the complainant, they should inform them that in order for a full investigation to be conducted, they may need to reveal their identity to the accused. If the complainant does not want to be identified to the accused, they can request a special exemption from the Executive Director.

# Conflict of Interest Policy

The purpose of the following policy and procedures is to complement Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc bylaws to prevent the personal interest of staff members, board members, and volunteers from interfering with the performance of their duties to Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc., or result in personal financial, professional, or political gain on the part of such persons at the expense of Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc.'s members, supporters, and other stakeholders.

## **Definitions**

Conflict of Interest (also Conflict) means a conflict, or the appearance of a conflict, between the private interests and official responsibilities of a person in a position of trust. Persons in a position of trust include staff members, officers, and board members of Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc. Board means the Board of Directors. Officer means an officer of the Board of Directors. Volunteer means a person -- other than a board member -- who does not receive compensation for services and expertise provided to Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc and retains a significant independent decision-making authority to commit resources of the organization. Staff Member means a person who receives all or part of her/his income from the payroll of Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc. Member means a Member of Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc. Supporter means corporations, foundations, individuals, 501 (c)(3)

nonprofits, and other nonprofit organizations who contribute to Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc.

## **Policy and Practices**

1. Full disclosure, by notice in writing, shall be made by the interested parties to the full Board of

Directors in all conflicts of interest, including but not limited to the following:

- a. A board member is related to another board member or staff member by blood, marriage or domestic partnership.
- b. A staff member in a supervisory capacity is related to another staff member whom she/he supervises.
- c. A board member or their organization stands to benefit from a transaction with Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc. or staff member of such organization receives payment from Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc. for any subcontract, goods, or services other than as part of her/his regular job responsibilities or as reimbursement for reasonable expenses incurred as provided in the bylaws and board policy.
- d. A board member or staff member is a member of the governing body of a contributor to Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc.
- e. A volunteer working on behalf of Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc who meets any of the situations or criteria listed above.
- 2. Following full disclosure of a possible conflict of interest or any condition listed above, the Board of Directors shall determine whether a conflict of interest exists and, if so the Board shall vote to authorize or reject the transaction or take any other action deemed necessary to address the conflict and protect Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc's best interests. Both votes shall be by a majority vote without counting the vote of any interested director.
- 3. An interested Board member, officer, or staff member shall not participate in any discussion or debate of the Board of Directors, or of any committee or subcommittee thereof in which the subject of discussion is a contract, transaction, or situation in which there may be a perceived or actual conflict
- of interest. However, they may be present to provide clarifying information in such a discussion or debate unless objected to by any present board or committee member.
- 4. Anyone in a position to make decisions about spending Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc's resources (i.e., transactions such as purchases contracts) who also stands to benefit from that decision has a duty to disclose that conflict as soon as it arises (or becomes apparent); s/he should not participate in any final decisions.
- 5. A copy of this policy shall be given to all Board members, staff members, volunteers or other key stakeholders upon commencement of such person's relationship with Investigative Reporters & Editors, Inc. or at the official adoption of stated policy.

## **Elections**

## Election timing, balloting and voting requirements

Elections will be timed to end during the conference, with results announced at the membership meeting.

Voting will open three (3) Tuesdays prior to the date of the membership meeting/results announcement. Ballots will be sent weekly on Tuesdays, along with a voting reminder.

In order to receive a ballot, members must be an active member through July 1.

## Staff role in elections

Staff's role in managing an impartial election is critical, therefore staff are prohibited from endorsing or campaigning for specific candidates at any time.

## Declaration of candidacy, submission of materials

Four (4) weeks prior to the sending of the first ballot, members must file their intent to run via an email to IRE staff, including all required elections materials. Staff will post these materials online within three business days of receipt. Candidates may submit materials earlier than the deadline and begin campaigning, if they so choose.

If there are fewer candidates declared than open seats on the Board, staff will immediately notify all current Board members and the existing candidates. The Board will immediately vote to confirm the election of the unopposed candidates. This may be done via emergency meeting or written vote, at the discretion of the Board President.

Staff will notify the entire membership of the remaining open seats and an election will be held to fill those seats. Interested members will have one week to declare their candidacy and submit election materials. Staff will post those materials online as soon as possible, and no later than the Friday of the week they are filed. Only the candidates who meet this late-filer deadline will appear on the ballot.

The election will still commence three (3) Tuesdays prior to the date of the membership meeting/results announcement. Ballots will be sent weekly on Tuesdays, along with a voting reminder.

#### Candidate nominations

Candidates must have a nomination and second to run for the IRE Board. Nominations can be up to 150 words long.

Nominations will be posted online with candidates' platforms but will no longer be verbalized in person at the IRE Conference.

## Candidate speeches

Recorded video speeches are included online with candidate platforms.

At the IRE Conference, each candidate will give a 2- or 3-minute statement of introduction and ideas that will be followed by a 30-minute meet and greet event where attendees can approach the candidates one-on-one to ask questions about their service and ideas.

Staff is responsible for developing a format for virtual inclusion in this event.

## Rules for campaigning

Candidates may campaign for Board of Directors or Contest Committee seats by making use of social media, direct communication to members, or any other method that complies with IRE's Code of Conduct. Use of the membership list to contact members is permitted, as long as staff is able to provide such a list to all candidates. Staff will ensure that all candidates are aware of campaigning rules and the available campaign methods.

However, all candidates are prohibited from use of any internal membership lists acquired through prior service on the Board or an IRE committee.

Current and former Board members are permitted to endorse candidates including, but not limited to, providing a nomination or second.

## **Events**

## Meetups

IRE meetups will be considered IRE-branded events and fall under the Code of Conduct rules.

## Executive director evaluations

IRE's annual review of the Executive Director shall be prepared by the President, Vice President, and Treasurer, based on but not limited to, input from board members and staff. The President, Vice President and Treasurer may access and consider reviews from prior years as part of that process.

The full Executive Committee shall approve the review, which will then go to the full Board for comment in executive session. The full Board may not change the review, but any member may choose to submit a brief statement with additional information for the record within seven (7) days of receipt. To the extent possible, the review shall take place at least one month prior to

the anniversary of the Executive Director's hire date and includes a market salary comparison to satisfy Internal Revenue Service requirements on rebuttal presumption.

The Executive Committee may recommend a salary increase and/or bonus for the Executive Director, which shall be confirmed by a vote of the full Board. If the approval occurs after the anniversary of the Executive Director's hire, any salary increase shall be retroactive. The review and notification of any salary increase or bonus will be provided to the Executive Director after the full IRE Board meets in executive session and approves any salary increase/bonus. The Executive Director shall have two weeks from receipt of the review to submit comments to the Executive Committee. The review and any comments from the Executive Director in response shall be retained by the Secretary and filed in a confidential location accessible only to Boardmembers.

The President shall prepare a separate review for the University of Missouri, when required, using the most recent IRE review as the basis when possible and which must be approved by the full Executive Committee prior to submission. The IRE staff financial officer and/or the school of journalism can be points of contact.

# Financial procedures

- Each quarter, the IRE Staff shall provide the IRE Board of Directors with a list of all major new donations and all major newly-executed contracts.
- In the rare situation when IRE is considering entering into a new contract or commitment to spend at least \$35,000, the full Board must first approve the move, either in a meeting or via an email vote.
  - This does not apply to hires (including full-time staff, part-time staff and students); conference hotel contracts; and other routine commitments, including for the annual banquet, AV/video and printing costs, and renewals of existing contracts for routine items such as insurance, account, investment management and credit-card service fees. This list can be expanded by Board vote at any time.
- By policy, IRE only accepts donations from media organizations or from foundations or other entities that typically support or supply the media. If a situation ever arises in which the Staff believes IRE should consider accepting money of any kind of at least \$35,000 from an entity outside of that policy, including any government entity, they must first obtain approval from the full Board.
- Any unused income at the end of the year gets rolled back into the endowment corpus.

# Whistleblower Policy

Investigative Reporters and Editors Inc. Whistleblower Policy approved by the IRE Board of Directors on June 11, 2009.

## General

Investigative Reporters and Editors Inc. (IRE) requires directors, officers and employees to observe high standards of business and personal ethics in the conduct of their duties and responsibilities. As employees and representatives of IRE, we must practice honesty and integrity in fulfilling our responsibilities and comply with all applicable laws and regulations.

## Reporting Responsibility

It is the responsibility of all directors, officers and employees to report ethics violations or suspected violations in accordance with this Whistleblower Policy.

#### No Retaliation

No director, officer or employee who in good faith reports an ethics violation shall suffer harassment, retaliation or adverse employment consequence. An employee who retaliates against someone who has reported a violation in good faith is subject to discipline up to and including termination of employment. This Whistleblower Policy is intended to encourage and enable employees and others to raise serious concerns within IRE prior to seeking resolution outside IRE.

# Reporting Violations

IRE has an open door policy and suggests that employees share their questions, concerns, suggestions or complaints with someone who can address them properly. However, if you are not comfortable speaking with your supervisor or you are not satisfied with your supervisor's response, you have two additional options:

- o The University of Missouri System has a whistleblower hotline available to all IRE employees and volunteer workers.
- o Two members of the IRE Board of Directors, the President and the Chair of the IRE Audit Committee, serve as Compliance Officers and can be contacted confidentially. If an employee is not comfortable contacting either of these individuals, any member of the IRE Board of Directors can be contacted.

# Acting in Good Faith

Anyone filing a complaint concerning a violation or suspected violation must be acting in good faith and have reasonable grounds for believing the information disclosed indicates a violation. Any allegations that prove not to be substantiated and which prove to have been made maliciously or knowingly to be false will be viewed as a serious disciplinary offense.

# Confidentiality

Violations or suspected violations may be submitted on a confidential basis by the complainant or may be submitted anonymously. Reports of violations or suspected violations will be kept confidential to the extent possible, consistent with the need to conduct an adequate investigation.

## Handling of Reported Violations

The Compliance Officer will notify the sender and acknowledge receipt of the reported violation or suspected violation within five business days. All reports will be promptly investigated and appropriate corrective action will be taken if warranted by the investigation.

# **Procedures**

# **Board of Directors meetings**

## Scheduling Board meetings

## Regular meetings

The Board of Directors shall meet at least once per quarter, and additionally as needed. If a Board retreat is scheduled, it shall count as one of the quarterly meetings.

Scheduling a non-emergency Board meeting requires not less than ten (10) days' notice to the Membership, specifying the time, place, and general purpose of each meeting. It shall be given to each Director personally. (Code of Bylaws, Section 6.06)

In the event of a failure of a quorum of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, but presence of a quorum of the Executive Committee, the meeting will proceed as a meeting of the Executive Committee; but that all members of the Board of Directors who are present and who are not members of the Executive Committee may in such event participate in the meeting for purposes of advice and discussion, but not for voting. (Code of Bylaws, Section 6.06)

Typically, the Board hosts an annual two-day retreat to get to know one another, address current business matters and longer-term planning. It sets the Board and staff's priorities for the rest of the fiscal year.

## **Emergency meetings**

In the event of an emergency declared by the President or a majority of the Executive Committee, the Board of Directors may meet and act, provided that a quorum of two-thirds of the Directors are participants and all Directors have been notified. The Membership should be notified as soon as is practical before the meeting. (Code of Bylaws, Section 6.04)

#### Place of meetings

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held virtually, by phone or in person as may be specified in the respective notices, or waivers of notice. (Code of Bylaws, Section 6.05)

In-person meetings will also have a virtual component for those who cannot attend in person.

## Agendas

An agenda is an essential component to every Board meeting. In order to ensure that meetings are as effective and productive as possible, Directors must have ample time to submit materials for consideration and to review information about which they will be expected to vote.

The President is responsible for creating the agenda, evaluating additional items from Directors, and distributing the final packet.

At least a week prior to each Board meeting, the President should send out a call for agenda items to staff and other members of the Board of Directors. Staff and Board members may submit items they would like to be added to the agenda, noting which items will require a vote. Committee chairs are responsible for ensuring submission of their reports. It is ultimately the President's decision on whether to add those items to the next agenda or to hold them for a future meeting. The final agenda and any accompanying materials should be provided to the Board and members at least three days prior to any Board meeting, unless it is an emergency meeting scheduled with fewer days' notice. Agendas for emergency meetings should be distributed as early as possible, but no later than when the meeting is scheduled.

Items may be added to the agenda during a Board meeting by motion, second and majority affirmative vote.

## Rules of Order

#### Quorum

A majority of the whole Board of Directors shall be necessary to constitute a quorum thereof; and, unless otherwise affirmatively prescribed by the Act, Articles, Bylaws, or other law, a majority of any quorum shall be sufficient to authorize or approve any action by the Board. (Code of Bylaws, Section 6.08)

## Proxy votes

Directors may not designate a proxy to vote on their behalf unless they are in attendance at the meeting and need to temporarily step away at the time a vote is being taken. Prior to leaving, the Director must notify the Board Secretary of which Director has their proxy vote and specify which action items the proxy is authorized to vote upon.

## General procedures

The IRE Board President presides over Board of Directors meetings and calls meetings to order. Every regularly scheduled meeting should include a roll call, treasurer's report, old business and new business.

Meetings typically will be recorded for the purposes of taking minutes and destroyed after minutes have been approved. Please see the Minutes section for a detailed description of how Board meeting minutes should be handled.

Every Director has the right to participate in discussion, if they would like. Directors should raise their hands or otherwise signal to the President they would like to speak. The President should call on Directors to speak, prioritizing those who have not yet been heard on a particular issue.

The President may call for a motion on a topic, or a Director may offer one.

Only one motion may be discussed at a time. A motion requires a second to be considered. After a second, the motion is open for discussion.

Any Director may offer an amendment to a pending motion. The Director who made the initial motion may choose to accept, reject or change the amendment.

Each motion must be disposed of (passed, defeated, tabled, referred to a specific committee or postponed indefinitely) before a new motion can be introduced.

Votes may be cast through voice or roll call votes. If the outcome of a voice vote is under dispute, any Director may call for a roll call vote.

To take a break or pause the meeting, there should be a motion, second and affirmative vote to take a recess.

To end a meeting, there must be a motion, second and affirmative vote to adjourn.

#### Executive session

When deciding whether to go into executive session, the Board shall err on the side of transparency.

Executive sessions should be limited to discussions of legal, personnel, contractual and/or Code of Conduct matters. The Board can also go into executive session to discuss otherwise confidential information, but should always default to staying in open session whenever possible. The agenda and minutes should include a general description of the reason for holding the executive session.

Going into executive session requires a motion, second and affirmative vote of a two-thirds majority of Directors in attendance. A subsequent motion, second and affirmative vote are required to exit executive session.

Minutes taken during executive sessions will be kept separately by the Secretary and filed in a confidential location accessible only to Board members. The public-facing minutes will not include details of discussions in executive session, unless approved by the Board for public release. Please see the Minutes section for additional detail.

#### Actions outside of Board meetings

Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if prior to such action a written consent to such action is signed by all members of the board or of such committee, as the case may be,

and such written consent is filed with the minutes of proceeds of the board or committee. (Articles of Incorporation, Section 10.08.)

#### Minutes

Minutes serve as the Board's historical record and, as such, should be treated with care.

The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Members, the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee, and shall keep, or cause to be kept, in books provided for the purpose, true and complete minutes of their meetings or other proceedings and ensure that all minutes of all of those types of gatherings, including all executive sessions, are distributed to the full Board of Directors shortly thereafter. The Secretary may delegate their duty to keep such minutes to an Assistant Secretary or the Executive Director of the Corporation if there be such. The Secretary (acting through the Executive Director if there be such) shall attend to the giving and serving of all notices of the Corporation. (Code of Bylaws, Section 8.05)

Minutes shall be taken of every Board meeting. The Board Secretary is responsible for the minutes, but should work with the Executive Director to designate a staff member to take notes during the meeting so the Secretary can fully participate during Board meetings. The Secretary should review the minutes and submit them to the Board for approval no later than one month after the meeting.

All minutes should include: a list of attendees, a summary of all Board discussion and detail on all motions made and votes taken. For votes that are not unanimous, the minutes should include the names of the individuals who voted in favor of the motion, against it and who abstained. Current and future Board members should be able to read only the minutes and gain a decent understanding of any discussions and decisions.

Minutes should also be taken during executive sessions. Since staff members may not participate in executive sessions, the Secretary can either take minutes live or use the recording to create minutes after the fact. They shall be kept separately by the Secretary and filed in a confidential location accessible only to Board members. The Secretary is responsible for selecting that location and ensuring ownership of those minutes is transferred to their successor. The public-facing minutes will not include details of discussions in executive session, unless approved by the Board for public release.

All committee, task force and staff reports should be included as attachments to the minutes.

Minutes should also be taken of votes cast via email. And the results posted along with all other meeting minutes, no later than a week after the vote concludes.

# **IRE Committees**

Investigative Reporters and Editors committees allow the Board of Directors and any IRE members to focus on specific areas or projects of interest and to explore new projects.

Committees are sometimes asked to address issues that come up in full Board meetings. The committees then make recommendations to the Board.

At the end of each fiscal year, the Board President should review the committees to ensure they continue to add value to the organization. If they do not, the President should consider sunsetting those committees. In addition, before creating a new committee, the Board should first consider whether the task can be assigned to an existing one.

The purpose of this document is to make available a full list of all current IRE committees, and to create general guidelines for how all IRE committees should work, so that we have a consistent, shared understanding of what it's like to serve on a committee, how committee members are selected and how committees work at IRE.

## **Current IRE Committees**

**Audit Committee** — This committee oversees accountability of the organization and reviews the annual external audit by a certified public accounting firm.

**Awards Committee** — This committee oversees the annual contests, including the IRE Awards, Don Bolles Medal, Golden Padlock and Philip Meyer Awards.

**Contest Judging Committee** — This committee judges the IRE Awards. It is affiliated with the Awards Committee. Some of its members are elected. The full Board reviews the appointments before they are finalized.

**Don Bolles Medal Committee** — This committee selects the winner of the Don Bolles Medal, which recognizes investigative journalists who have exhibited extraordinary courage in standing up against intimidation or efforts to suppress the truth about matters of public importance. This committee reports to the Awards Committee.

**Golden Padlock Selection Committee** — This committee selects the winner of the Golden Padlock Award, which is given to a public agency or official in the U.S. deemed to be the most secretive. This committee reports to the Awards Committee.

**Philip Meyer Journalism Award Committee** — This committee selects the winner of the Philip Meyer Journalism Award, which recognizes excellent journalism done using social science research methods. This committee reports to the Awards Committee.

**Conference Committee** — This committee tackles conference-related issues, including recommendations on registration affordability, keynote and showcase speakers and all panels. Those recommendations are made with input from staff, the Board of Directors and members. The committee may create subcommittees to tackle specific tracks, such as broadcast, international and management tracks.

**Diversity Committee** — This task force focuses on IRE's efforts to increase diversity in the organization. This committee reports to the Executive Committee.

**Finance Committee** — The Finance Committee works on fundraising, oversees ongoing revenues and expenses, monitors the Endowment Funds and advises the Board on investment practices. It is required by the Code of Bylaws. (Code of Bylaws, Amendment pertaining to IRE Finance Committee).

**Executive Committee** — This committee is responsible for planning oversight, finance, personnel issues and Board development. The committee is also responsible for handling Board business between scheduled meetings. (Articles of Incorporation, Article 9, and Code of Bylaws, Article 7). Please see the section on Executive Committee procedures for additional information.

**Governance Committee** — This committee examines issues concerning IRE's organizational structure and operating rules.

**Member Services Committee** — This committee is responsible for member recruitment, community engagement, mentorship and member resources.

**Strategic Planning Ad Hoc Committee** — This committee spearheads the organization's strategic planning efforts.

**Training Committee** — This committee examines training opportunities for the organization.

## **Current IRE Task Forces**

**50th Anniversary Task Force:** This task force works to plan for IRE's 50th anniversary in 2025. (Created by the president in July 2023)

**Award Diversity Task Force:** This task force researches the diversity of past IRE award winners, and makes recommendations for the future. (Created by the Board in 2022)

**Board Reform Task Force:** This task force examines the possibility of three-year terms for Directors, as well as term limits and other related issues. (Created by the Board in June 2023)

**Non-English Award Feasibility Task Force:** This task force researches the feasibility of adding a category for journalism in other languages to IRE awards. (Created by the Board in 2022)

**Website Task Force** — This task force works with staff and contractors to facilitate improvements to the IRE website. (Created by the president in July 2023)

## Selection of Committee Chairs and Members

The Board President appoints all committee chairs in consultation with staff, to ensure people who have expressed an interest in getting more involved are considered. All selections must be made by July 1.

The President and committee chair will select the members of each committee — with input from the Executive Director. The at-large member of the executive committee will chair a committee of the president's choosing. If there is any disagreement between the President and the Committee Chair, it will be brought to the Executive Committee for a final decision.

Each committee may have at least one nonvoting student delegate (with the exception of executive and finance). Delegates will be selected by committee chairs. Staff will solicit applicants via an email requesting that students specify which committee(s) they are interested in and why. Those emails will be shared with committee chairs, who will make the decision.

There are several exceptions to this policy, as outlined below:

**Awards Committee** — All committee members are appointed by the Board President. The chair and vice chair are required to be from the Board of Directors from different election cycles, unless the Board approves an exception. Committee members are not allowed to enter the IRE Awards. The prohibition includes projects authored by committee members as well as any projects they had involvement in, including editing or oversight. If there is a conflict, the committee member must discuss the issue with the committee chair. If it is not resolved there, it will be sent to the Executive Committee for final determination.

Contest Judging Committee — The chair and vice chair of this committee also are chair and vice chair of the Awards Committee. This committee is made up of seven people: a chair and a vice chair (both of whom serve on the Board of Directors from different election cycles and are appointed by the Board President); two members elected by the IRE membership; and three others selected by the President and chair. If either of the elected members are unable to participate, the candidate with the next highest votes will be eligible to serve. All committee members must be current in their IRE membership at the time of appointment. The Board President should review potential committee members' background with the Executive Director to identify any concerns (Board of Directors policy approved June 13, 2019), and the full Board reviews the appointments before they are finalized. Contest Judging Committee members are

not allowed to enter the IRE Awards. The prohibition includes projects authored by committee members as well as any projects they had involvement in, including editing or oversight. If there is a conflict, the committee member must discuss the issue with the committee chair. If it is not resolved there, it will be sent to the Awards Committee for final determination. The committee chair is also responsible for reviewing the video for the awards presentation.

Conference Committee — In addition to the requirements outlined in the Contest Judging Committee, the Conference Committee should consist of two Directors of the Board and one non-board member for the NICAR Conference and two Directors and one non-board member for the IRE Conference. (Policy approved Oct. 19, 2019.) That requirement is a minimum, and chairs have discretion to include additional committee members. The committee members will take part in any respective regional committee calls and also make recommendations to the Board for keynote speakers and showcase panels. For in-person conferences and workshops, the conference committee will help the executive director recruit local organizers and funders for a regional committee.

**Finance Committee** — This committee is chaired by the Treasurer and includes six other members of IRE, including one Director. That Director and two of the other members are nominated by the President; the others are nominated by the Treasurer. All are nominated after the annual officer elections and must be approved by the IRE Board. They serve for two-year terms. (Code of Bylaws, Amendment pertaining to IRE Endowment Funds).

**Executive Committee** — This committee is comprised of the Board President, Vice President, Treasurer, Secretary and At-Large Member (Code of Bylaws, Article 7). Please see the section on Executive Committee procedures for additional information.

# **Committee Meetings**

This section sets a baseline structure for IRE committees, so committees work consistently across the board. It also highlights what it means to be a committee chair, what chairs are responsible for and why.

## Scheduling meetings

Committee chairs are responsible for scheduling committee meetings. They shall give committee members at least one week's notice, barring any emergency circumstances.

Meetings are held virtually, unless otherwise designated by the committee chair.

Committees may meet in smaller groups, but there must be a majority of committee members present in order to vote. Members of the Board of Directors are allowed to observe any committee meetings, unless otherwise noted.

## Agendas

Committee chairs are responsible for creating the agenda and providing it to committee members in advance of a meeting. An agenda is an essential component to every committee meeting, just like they are to Board meetings. In order to ensure that meetings are as effective and productive as possible, committee members must have ample time to submit materials for consideration and to review information about which they will be expected to vote.

The final agenda and any accompanying materials should be provided to committee members at least three days prior to any meeting, unless the meeting was scheduled with fewer days' notice. In those cases, agendas should be distributed as early as possible, but no later than when the meeting is scheduled.

## Meeting Procedures

The committee chair presides over committee meetings and calls them to order. Most committees serve as working groups and, as such, may operate informally. Any items to be forwarded to the Board of Directors for final consideration must be voted on by the committee.

For issues or discussions that require a vote:

The chair may call for a motion on a topic, or a member may offer one.

Only one motion may be discussed at a time. A motion requires a second to be considered. After a second, the motion is open for discussion.

Any member may offer an amendment to a pending motion. The member who made the initial motion may choose to accept, reject or change the amendment.

Each motion must be disposed of (passed, defeated, tabled, referred to a specific committee or postponed indefinitely) before a new motion can be introduced.

Votes may be cast through voice or roll call votes. If the outcome of a voice vote is under dispute, any member may call for a roll call vote.

#### Minutes

Committee meeting minutes should include the agenda, members present and details of all votes. Minutes should be filed in the same place as other Board meeting minutes.

## Removal procedures

If a committee member fails to participate in three consecutive meetings after good-faith efforts by the committee chair, the chair has the discretion to remove that individual from the committee.

## **Executive Committee**

The Executive Committee of the Board of Directors shall consist of five Directors, including the President, Vice President, Treasurer and Secretary and an At-Large member. The President shall be chairman of the Executive Committee. The members of the Executive Committee shall hold office until the next annual meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The immediate past president – to the extent possible – shall serve in an advisory role to the Board. (Code of Bylaws, Section 7.01)

#### Vacancies

Vacancies on the Executive Committee shall occur upon the death or other incapacity of any one of the five (5) Members; and shall be filled at the direction of the Board of Directors. (Code of Bylaws, Section 7.02)

#### **Powers**

The Executive Committee shall have and may exercise during the intervals between meetings of the Board of Directors all the powers vested in the Board of Directors, except those reserved by the Act, Articles, these Bylaws, or other law to the Members or Board of Directors of the Corporation, or any other powers the Board of Directors chooses to retain. (Code of Bylaws, Section 7.05)

As in most other nonprofits that have executive committees, the IRE Executive Committee's most important function is acting for the full Board of Directors in emergencies and on other time-sensitive issues when it is not practical to convene the full board. The committee also can perform other advisory functions at the discretion of the president; serve as a sort of backstop for the President and Executive Director so actions that affect IRE's future are considered by more than two people; and, in some cases, review legal, personnel or financial matters in executive session, or review any other matters before they go to the full Board.

However, the Executive Committee is not a "super board." It reports to the full Board, which can decide to grant it additional powers or exclude it from taking certain actions.

Currently, the Executive Committee has the following powers:

#### Powers prescribed in the Bylaws

- The Executive Committee has the power to schedule special meetings of the full Board of Directors (Code of Bylaws, Section 6.04)
- The Executive Committee has the power to make exceptions to the rule that a director cannot run for re-election if he or she has not attended two-thirds of board meetings. (Code of Bylaws, Section 6.09)
- The Executive Director is subject to the instructions of the Executive Committee at all times between meetings of the Directors. (Code of Bylaws, Section 4.01)

Other powers granted to the Executive Committee by the Board of Directors

- The Committee has the responsibility for addressing certain issues with other committee appointments. Please see the policies on Committees for more information.
- The Committee has the responsibility to evaluate the Executive Director each year and compare their compensation to leaders at comparable nonprofits (in executive session, without the attendance of other Directors). The Committee must approve drafts of annual performance appraisals (for both Missouri University and IRE) and share those with the full Board prior to providing them to the Executive Director. They also can share a proposal regarding potential changes to compensation, which the full Board will vote on.
- The Committee has the responsibility to consider Code of Conduct complaints (in executive session, without the attendance of other Directors). The Committee must consider each complaint and make a determination, and then confidentially share the nature and outcome of the complaint with the full Board for information only (in an executive session). Please see the policies on Code of Conduct for more information.
- The Committee has the responsibility to consider requests for IRE to sign onto letters advocating for various causes, and similar matters. The Committee must meet (typically via email) to consider each request and decide whether or not to send it to the full Board for a vote (again, typically via email).
- Additionally, as part of the Board's fiduciary duty, it assigns the Executive Committee the following oversight powers and responsibilities:
  - Any time the Executive Director or any other IRE official intends to spend \$5,000 or more on a Board-related expenditure that was not already approved by the Board, they must first obtain approval from the Executive Committee. (Examples of these types of expenditures include training for Board members, facilities for Board meetings and facilitators for Board business.)
  - O Any time the Executive Director or any other IRE official intends to spend \$10,000 or more on any expenditure that was not already approved by the Board in a budget or in a policy vote, they must first obtain approval from the Executive Committee.

Note: The Executive Director is allowed to obtain pre-approval from the Executive Committee for items listed above by contacting the Committee early in the process, even before the item has been finalized. This may help to speed up the process.

#### Limitations on the Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is not allowed to overturn any vote by the Board of Directors, except in cases of true emergencies. In addition, it must refer the following matters to the full Board:

- The items mentioned elsewhere in Board policy, including in this document
- Personnel actions regarding the Executive Director, including employment contracts, hiring and firing decisions
- Potential violations of conflict of interest policies

## Meetings

Meetings of the Executive Committee shall be called and held in a manner prescribed by the Board of Directors, including with notice to all the Directors. (Code of Bylaws, Section 7.03)

By its nature, many meetings of the Executive Committee will occur in cases of emergencies or other issues that require an immediate gathering, and in those cases, the President shall have the power to convene the Executive Committee with little notice.

If the President would like to convene the Executive Committee for any other purpose, including for a regular meeting, to consult with the Committee or to receive any type of update from the Executive Director, the President shall notify all the Directors and provide an agenda to them at least 48 hours before the meeting begins.

All meetings of the Executive Committee — including emergency meetings — shall be open to all members of the Board of Directors, except in limited cases, as described in Board policies and in the Code of Bylaws. Meetings need not be scheduled to accommodate other board members. But the President shall provide a link/number to all meetings (including emergency meetings), to all Directors so they can watch silently, without participating.

Executive sessions of the Committee should be treated the same as executive sessions for the full Board of Directors, except in limited cases, as described elsewhere in Board policies and in the Code of Bylaws. Confidentiality rules apply to all, including the Directors who are not on the Executive Committee and are observing.

#### Quorum

A majority of the members of the Executive Committee shall be necessary to constitute a quorum thereof; but the Executive Committee, which is not supported by the affirmative votes of three (3) members, shall take no action. (Code of Bylaws, Section 7.04)

This means the Executive Committee cannot take any action unless three committee members choose to do so. However, it can do advisory moves, including referring items to the full Board, with fewer than three votes.

#### Minutes

The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Members, the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee, and shall keep, or cause to be kept, in books provided for the purpose, true and complete minutes of their meetings or other proceedings and ensure that all minutes of all of those types of gatherings, including all executive sessions, are distributed to the full Board of Directors shortly thereafter. The Secretary may delegate their duty to keep such minutes to an Assistant Secretary or the Executive Director of the Corporation if there be such. The Secretary (acting through the Executive Director if there be such) shall attend to the giving and serving of all notices of the Corporation. (Code of Bylaws, Section 8.05)

A meeting of the Executive Committee is no different from a meeting of the full Board. Minutes of Executive Committee meetings should include at least the agenda, a brief summary of the discussion under each agenda item and a record of any vote taken, including the names of any member of the committee voting "no."

During executive sessions, the Secretary should make note of the discussion and record any action or vote.

Minutes for Executive Committee meetings, including its executive sessions, should be treated exactly the same as minutes for Board meetings.